2006

John K. Crowley v. Chris Black : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j). The
Supreme Court has transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. Utah Code Ann. § 78-
2a-3(2)(j).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A. ATTORNEY FEE CLAIM

After trial in this matter, in its oral ruling, the trial Court denied plaintiff's request for an award of attorney fees. The trial Court provided little explanation in its oral ruling as to the factual or legal reason for the denial of an award of attorney fees.

Plaintiff's attorney fees request was based upon the written lease between the parties (Exhibit "P-2" introduced at trial). The written lease, in pertinent part, provides:

ATTORNEY'S FEES: In the event that the Owner shall prevail in any legal action brought by either party to enforce the terms hereof or relating to the demised premises, Owner shall be entitled to all costs incurred in connection with such action, including a reasonable attorney fee.

Plaintiff was the prevailing party because a judgment for past due rent, lost rent and for damages to the rental property was awarded to plaintiff at trial. Plaintiff was required to bring this law suit because of defendant's refusal to pay the last month's rent, damage to the property beyond ordinary wear and tear, etc. At no time did defendant, Chris Black ever admit any wrongdoing, fault, liability or debt. This action and a trial were necessary to collect damages from defendant and to enforce the lease agreement.

Plaintiff incurred attorney fees and out of pocket expenses in excess of seven thousand dollars (\$7,000.00) in pursuit of this action. Among other items, plaintiff was required to hire a private detective to find defendant to serve him with the summons and complaint in this action. Based upon the written lease, plaintiff is entitled to and should have been awarded attorney fees incurred in the successful pursuit of this action.

B. PREJUDGMENT INTEREST CLAIM

In this landlord and tenant dispute, Plaintiff was awarded special damages for unpaid rent, for lost rent, and for damage caused to plaintiff's rental property during defendant's occupancy. All those damages are in amounts certain. All damages were established by evidence or receipts showing payment made by plaintiff in 2001 and 2002. In light of the nature of the damages awarded in specific amounts, plaintiff is entitled to pre-judgment interest.

A trial court's decision to grant prejudgment interest presents a question of law. Lyon v. Burton, 2000 UT 19, P73, 5 P.3d 616 (*quoting Cornia v. Wilcox*, 898 P.2d 1379, 1387 (Utah 1995); Bailey-Allen Co. v. Kurzet, 876 P.2d 421, 427 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); Andreason v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co., 848 P.2d 171, 177 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). The law in Utah on this issue is clear:

Where the damage is complete and the amount of the loss is fixed as of a particular time, and that loss can be measured by facts and figures, interest should be allowed from that time . . . and not from the date of judgment. On the other hand, where damages are incomplete or cannot be calculated with mathematical accuracy, such as in the case of personal injury, wrongful death, defamation of character, false imprisonment, etc., the amount of the damages must be ascertained and assessed by the trier of the fact at the trial, and in such cases prejudgment interest is not allowed.

Canyon Country Store v. Bracey, 781 P.2d 414, 422 (Utah 1989) (*quoting First Sec. Bank of Utah v. J.B.J. Feedyards, Inc.*, 653 P.2d 591, 600 (Utah 1982)); *see also* Bellon v. Malnar, 808 P.2d 1089, 1097 (Utah 1991).

With clear and specific factual information, plaintiff's special damages as presented at trial and as found by the Court were measured by "facts and figures" or "calculated with mathematical accuracy." *See Canyon Country Store*, 781 P.2d at 422. Under these circumstances, the plaintiff is entitled, as a matter of law, to prejudgment interest.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING PLAINTIFF AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES UNDER THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES WHEN PLAINTIFF PREVAILED AT TRIAL AND WAS AWARDED THE BULK OF THE DAMAGES CLAIMED IN HIS COMPLAINT?

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING PLAINTIFF AN AWARD OF PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON LOST RENT, EXPENSES PAID FOR REPAIRS TO THE RENTAL PREMISES, ETC. WHEN THOSE AMOUNTS WERE EASILY CALCULATED, FIXED AMOUNTS AND INCURRED ON A SPECIFIC DATE?

ISSUES RAISED AND CONSIDERED

The issues to be considered on appeal were raised at trial in this matter, and resolved in the Court's oral ruling. Transcript of Trial. R. 154. The issues were raised and considered in post-trial motions. R. 86-92; 128-129.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. ATTORNEY FEE CLAIM

“Whether attorney’s fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law [that] we review for correctness.” Cache County v. Beus, 128 P.3d 63 (Ut. Ct. App. 2005) [*quoting* A.K. & R Whipple Plumbing and Heating v. Guy, 47 P.3d 92 (Utah 2004)].

When attorney’s fees are recoverable, “[t]he trial court has broad discretion in determining what constitutes a reasonable fee, and [a reviewing court] will consider the determination against and abuse of discretion standard.” R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 40 P.3d 1119, 1120 (Utah 2002).

“We do, however, insist that a trial court’s decision concerning a motion for attorney’s fees be supported by adequate findings.” Utahns for Better Dental Health-Davis Inc. v. Davis County Comm’n, 121 P.3d 39, 41 (Ut. Ct. App. 2005).

B. PREJUDGMENT INTEREST CLAIM

“A trial court’s decision to grant or deny pre-judgment interest presents a question of law which we review for correctness.” Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc., 82 P.3d 1064 (Utah 2003) [*quoting* Cornia v. Wilcox, 898 P.2d 1379, 1387 (Utah 1995)].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Crowley filed suit against Chris Black on May 17, 2002 alleging breach of the written rental agreement by which Black had resided in a rental property belonging to

Crowley. The complaint sought a total of \$5538.00 for lost rent, damages to the property, cost of cleaning, etc. R. 1-5. The complaint sought an award of attorney fees pursuant to the written rental agreement. R. 1-5.

Black answered the complaint on June 13, 2002. R. 8-10.

A bench trial was held on April 4, 2006, the Hon. Glenn Iwasaki, judge presiding. R. 80-81.

The Court ruled in favor of Crowley awarding damages in a total of \$4679.26 for lost rent, damages to the property, cost of cleaning, etc. The Court denied an award of attorney fees under to the written rental agreement. The Court also denied plaintiff's request for prejudgment interest. R. 130-136; 137-138. Copy attached as Exhibit.

A motion for new trial was made with regard to plaintiff's request for prejudgment interest and the attorney fees claim. R. 86-89; 90-92.

That motion for new trial was denied. R. 128-129.

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Judgment were entered on June 26, 2006. R. 130-136; 137-138.

An extension of time as granted in which plaintiff could file an appeal. R. 141-142.

An appeal was filed within the extended time. R.143-144.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Defendant Chris Lee Black leased plaintiff John Crowley's residential property at 8828 South Alpen Way, Sandy, Utah in July 1996 and was a tenant until approximately December 2001. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 46:25-47 and 60:8-13 (April 4, 2006).

2. A lease agreement (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1, "P-1") executed by defendant Black and the Crowleys' property management agency is dated July 3, 1996 and shows that a security deposit of \$925.00 was paid by defendant Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 56:18-57:6 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 1.

3. The original lease agreement ("P-1"), signed by defendant Black, contains an inventory section which indicates that on July 3, 1996, the carpet, paint and blinds in the Alpen Way residence were all new and undamaged. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 61:22-62:11 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 1.

4. Defendant Black made a walk-through inspection of the Alpen Way property in July, 1996, when he first rented it. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 64:3-5 (April 4, 2006).

5. During or after his July, 1996 inspection, defendant Black did not identify, note nor describe any existing damages in the place designated on the lease agreement which he signed on July 3, 1996. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 64:6-18 (April 4, 2006).

6. Ms. Nancy Ann Crowley, co-owner of the Alpen Way property with her husband, plaintiff John Crowley, made a walk-through inspection of the entire house and

property shortly after defendant Black commenced his tenancy, on or about July 14, 1996. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 47:7-18 (April 4, 2006).

7. Ms. Crowley's walk-through inspection on July 14, 1996 occurred approximately ten (~10) days after defendant Black executed the original lease agreement and moved into the Alpen Way residence. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 57:7-13 (April 4, 2006).

8. At Ms. Crowley's July 14, 1996 inspection, she noted that the house was clean, newly carpeted, newly painted and showed no problems or damages. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 48:6-12 (April 4, 2006).

9. At Ms. Crowley's July 14, 1996 inspection, she noted that the window blinds throughout the house were new and in working order; all the interior doors were undamaged; and, all light fixtures were present and undamaged. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 48:13-21 (April 4, 2006).

10. Douglas Reynolds is a property manager for Century 21 Real Estate and has managed plaintiff John Crowley's property at 8828 South Alpen Way for at least five (5+) years. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 2:21-3:25 (April 4, 2006).

11. Property manager Reynolds and his employer (Century 21) manage approximately two hundred fifty (~250) rental properties. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 30:6-7 (April 4, 2006).

12. Reynolds managed plaintiff's Alpen Way property during the tenancy of defendant, Chris Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 4:1-2 (April 4, 2006).

13. Reynolds prepared a renewal lease agreement dated October 1, 1997 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, "P-2"), by which defendant Chris Black continued to lease from plaintiff, John Crowley, the home and property located on Alpen Way. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 5:5-16 (April 4, 2006).

14. The renewed lease agreement ("P-2") in October 1997 required that the Alpen Way property would be left in the same condition he received it absent normal and ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 63:16-64:2 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.

15. The October 1997 lease provides that upon termination of the lease, defendant Black was to surrender the premises "in as good of condition as received, normal wear and tear excepted." R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 6:16-18 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.

16. The lease provides that defendant Black was to "maintain any surrounding grounds ... and keep the same clear of rubbish or weeds." R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 6:23-25 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 2

17. The lease agreement includes a space designated for the identification of existing problems or defects. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 7:4-8 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.

18. Defendant Black did not identify any existing problems at the time the 1997 lease agreement was signed. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 7:15-17 (April 4, 2006).

19. Defendant Black made no mention of any persistent water leaks or other damage issues in the October 1997 lease agreement renewal (Exhibit “P-2”), executed over one (1+) year into his tenancy at the Alpen Way property. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 96:12-17 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2.

20. Plaintiff John Crowley and his wife, Nancy Ann Crowley (“the Crowleys”) maintain records regarding leases, tenant complaints and repairs for each rental property they own, including the Alpen Way property. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 48:24-49:13 (April 4, 2006).

21. The Crowleys have no record of any complaints or repair requests from Black relating to the Alpen Way property during the tenancy of defendant Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 49:14-18 (April 4, 2006).

22. Defendant Black’s tenancy was one in which very few maintenance problems were reported to property manager Reynolds. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 27:2-16 (April 4, 2006).

23. Black’s rent payments during his tenancy were consistently late. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 49:23-50:2 (April 4, 2006).

24. Defendant Black vacated the leased premises in approximately November of 2001. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 8:2-5 (April 4, 2006).

25. Defendant Black failed to pay rent during and for the last month of his tenancy, November 2001. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 29:21-30:2 9 (April 4, 2006); R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 66:15-16 (April 4, 2006).

26. Defendant Black did not leave a forwarding address with the property manager upon vacating the premises. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 30:3-5 (April 4, 2006).

27. Property manager Reynolds visited the vacated property within days of defendant Black's move out. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 8:6-8 (April 4, 2006).

28. When defendant Black vacated the Alpen Way property, window blinds in the master bedroom, the kitchen and a basement bedroom were broken. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 65:1-66:4 (April 4, 2006).

29. When defendant Black moved out, there were holes in some interior doors caused by moving furniture and holes in some basement walls caused by pool cues. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 66:5-14 (April 4, 2006).

30. Black left behind a lot of trash and debris in the yard. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 8:12-13 (April 4, 2006).

31. The debris left in the yard included auto wheels, tires and assorted trash. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 9:2-4 (April 4, 2006).

32. During the post-move out inspection, property manager Reynolds took photographs (Plaintiff's Exhibit 3, "P-3") to document damages to the house. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 9:20-10:5 (April 4, 2006).

33. Photographs of damage to sheet rock walls show holes that necessitated repairs such as patching and painting. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 10:22-11:8 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

34. The damages to sheet rock walls are chargeable as tenant damages and are beyond ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 11:2 and 11:8 (April 4, 2006).

35. Photographs of interior doors show damage which necessitated the replacement of several doors. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 11:10-11:17 and 12:20-23 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

36. The damage to several interior doors and their replacement are chargeable as tenant damages and are beyond ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 12:22-23 and 13:3-5 (April 4, 2006).

37. Photographs of a shower unit located in the basement show severe damage such as broken tiles, cracked tiles and a shower door wrenched loose from the frame. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 8:17-22 and 13:7-16 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

38. The damaged basement shower unit had to be completely rebuilt, including new tile and a new floor pan. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 13:14-17 (April 4, 2006).

39. The cost of repair and complete rebuilding of the basement bathroom shower unit (\$1,580.00) was a tenant responsibility and are beyond ordinary wear and tear R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 24:5-6 and 25:9-13 (April 4, 2006).

40. In the opinion of property manager Reynolds, the damage to the basement shower unit and the cost of rebuilding it are chargeable as tenant responsibilities and are beyond ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 13:20 (April 4, 2006).

41. A photograph of a basement wall near the shower unit shows a damaged piece of sheet rock and a poor repair attempt which necessitated installation of a new piece of sheet rock. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 13:23-14:7 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

42. Photographs of a basement wall show water damage to paint and sheet rock caused by a basement window being left open. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 14:9-13 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

43. The water damage to the basement wall is attributable to tenant carelessness and is a tenant responsibility and is beyond ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 14:14-16 (April 4, 2006).

44. Photographs of various light fixtures throughout the residence show missing glass covers. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 15:6-9 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

45. The cost of replacement parts for light fixtures are a tenant responsibility and are beyond ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 15:10 (April 4, 2006).

46. Photographs of vinyl window blinds show damage and the blinds had to be replaced. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 15:12-17 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

47. A photograph of the interior of the oven shows that it needed cleaning and was not cleaned. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 15:19-16:5 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

48. A photograph of the laundry room shows piles of debris and sawdust which were not cleaned up by the tenant. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 17:21-24 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

49. A photograph of the area below the outside deck shows debris such as auto wheels, tires and mattresses which had to be removed before re-leasing the residence. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 18:5-13 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 3.

50. Defendant Black admitted leaving used automobile wheels and tires and various debris in the yard of the Alpen Way property and agreed that expenses incurred for their removal are his responsibility. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 92:20-23 (April 4, 2006).

51. A copy of a receipt (Plaintiff's Exhibit 4, "P-4") from Daryl C. Payne shows the cost of repairs to a faulty circuit breaker and damaged wiring. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 19:9-15 (April 4, 2006); Plaintiff's Exhibit 4.

52. The electrical repairs by Daryl C. Payne are part of regular maintenance and so are not a tenant responsibility. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 19:15-16 (April 4, 2006).

53. An invoice (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, "P-5") from Dix Keller details the painting, debris-hauling, fixture replacement and various fix-ups which needed to be done after defendant Black moved out. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 20:5-12 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 5.

54. The items and costs detailed in the Dix Keller invoice (Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, "P-5") are tenant responsibilities. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 20:22-21:1 (April 4, 2006).

55. A document (Plaintiff's Exhibit 6, "P-6") prepared by property manager Reynolds identifies and reflects the costs of various repair jobs completed at the residence by handymen. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 21:4-9 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 6.

56. Certain items listed in this Exhibit ("P-6") such as repairing and re-staining the front door; nailing patio ceiling; repairing the outside stairs and replacing the front door lock sets are not chargeable to the tenant. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 21:9-22:6 (April 4, 2006).

57. Other items listed in this Exhibit ("P-6") such as miscellaneous bulbs, electrical covers and supplies are chargeable as tenant responsibilities. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 22:6-11 (April 4, 2006).

58. A receipt from Holbrook Plumbing (Plaintiff's Exhibit 7, "P-7") documents repairs to the upstairs master bathroom which were not chargeable as tenant responsibilities. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 22:20-25 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 7.

59. A second receipt from Holbrook Plumbing (Plaintiff's Exhibit 8, "P-8") documents repairs to the basement bathroom in which the entire shower unit had to be rebuilt. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 23:6-13 (April 4, 2006); *see* Plaintiff's Exhibit 8.

60. The damages documented by the various photographs (Exhibit "P-3") and receipts (Exhibits "P-5", "P-6", "P-7" and "P-8") are of the kind that should have been noted and described in the appropriate spaces of the lease agreement had they been present during the defendant-tenant's initial walkthrough. All that damage was very noticeable and obvious in 2001. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 25:23-26:4 (April 4, 2006).

61. The opinion of property manager Reynolds was that the much of the damages and the required repairs to the property were not the result of reasonable or ordinary wear and tear. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 30:8-11 (April 4, 2006).

62. Property manager Reynolds does not recall any issue or complaints involving the presence of termites at the Alpen Way property. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 36:15-21 (April 4, 2006).

63. Any sawdust or unidentifiable dust-like matter on basement shelving or floors did not descend from the ceiling inasmuch as there is no ceiling in the unfinished basement. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 37:6-14 (April 4, 2006).

64. A water leak in the upstairs bathroom had apparently existed for the much of defendant Black's tenancy but was not brought to property manager Reynolds' attention until shortly before Black terminated his tenancy. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 40:7-11 and 40:17-20 (April 4, 2006).

65. The upstairs bathroom leak was eventually repaired, the cost of which is not a tenant-chargeable item. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 42:12-15 (April 4, 2006).

66. The leak in the upstairs bathroom did not cause any of the damage to the downstairs bathroom and shower unit, the repairs in that area are chargeable as tenant-caused damage. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 42:18-43:10 (April 4, 2006).

67. Defendant Black left no forwarding address with the Crowleys upon vacating the Alpen Way residence. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 50:3-5 (April 4, 2006).

68. Defendant Black does not recall ever leaving a forwarding address with the Crowleys or property manager Reynolds. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 67:13-21 (April 4, 2006).

69. After he moved out, to locate defendant Black and attempt to resolve the issue of damages to the Alpen Way property, the Crowleys hired Paramount Detective Agency at a cost of \$400.00. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 50:6-14 (April 4, 2006).

70. After defendant Black vacated the Alpen Way residence, repairs to the damaged property required that it remain un-leased and vacant for approximately one (~1) month, during which no rent (at \$975.00 per month) was collected. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 50:15-23 (April 4, 2006).

71. The repairs detailed by property manager Reynolds were paid for by the Crowleys when they were incurred and the work done. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 51:1-2 (April 4, 2006); R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 44:23-45:1 (April 4, 2006).

72. Crowley retained counsel, Brian M. Barnard and James L. Harris, Jr. and paid legal fees to pursue the action against defendant Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 51:3-8 (April 4, 2006).

73. Crowley sued for reimbursement for legal fees expended in pursuing the action against defendant Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 51:9-11 (April 4, 2006).

74. The front doors of the residence had consistent problems with misalignment which prevented them from closing or locking properly; these problems existed at the

time defendant Black began his tenancy and continued for the duration of his tenancy. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 79:15-20 (April 4, 2006).

75. Black brought problems with the front doors to the attention of property manager Reynolds on several occasions during his tenancy. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 37:24-38:5 (April 4, 2006).

76. Defendant Black complained to property managers several times regarding the front doors of the residence; attempts were made by property managers to correct the problem. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 79:25-80:4 (April 4, 2006).

77. Property manager Reynolds initiated several attempts to improve the functioning of the front doors during the tenancy of defendant Black. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 38:5-18 (April 4, 2006).

78. Defendant Black purchased a refrigerator upon moving into the Alpen Way residence and placed it in the kitchen; defendant Black did not remove the refrigerator when he vacated the premises. R. 154, Tr. Transcr. 88:10-16 (April 4, 2006).

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