2006

John K. Crowley v. Chris Black : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff never sought pre-judgment interest or attorney's fees in the Complaint or at the time of the Motion for Summary Judgment. The Plaintiff never made any argument or claim at trial nor did they introduce any foundation upon which interest could be awarded with a mathematical certainty required of pre-judgment interest claim.

The question of awarding of attorney's fees and pre-judgment interest were the province of the trial court to make a ruling based upon the findings of fact made by the trial court. At the trial, Counsel for the Defendant argued that no attorney's fees should be awarded because of the excessive claims made by the Plaintiff and cross examined a witness, the wife of the Plaintiff, who on the stand at trial admitted that the Plaintiff owed damages which the Plaintiff's own expert witness said should be costs of the landlord.

The trial judge entered into a total evaluation of the entire case including the amount claimed and the amount awarded and ruled in his sound discretion that there should not be attorney's fees awarded in light of the totality of all issues.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED ATTORNEY'S FEES TO THE PLAINTIFF IN LIGHT OF ALL THE EVIDENCE INTRODUCED AT TRIAL.

The award of attorney's fees is . . . in the 'sound discretion of the trial court.'"

Willey v. Willey, 951 P.2d 226, 230 (Utah 1997) (quoting *Dixie State Bank v. Bracken*, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988)). The Court said this is based on the trial judge's familiarity with the particular litigation and with attorney's fees in general. A trial court is much better suited to determine reasonable attorney's fees than is an appellate court, which can only consider evidence that is in the record. *Willey v. Willey*, 951 P.2d 226, 232 (Utah 1997)

Significantly during the course of the trial, Nancy Crowley, the wife of the Plaintiff and one of the owners of the property testified as follows on cross-examination:

Q. [*Randall Gaither, Attorney for the Defendant*] Now you've heard the testimony here concerning – by Mr. Reynolds, indicating that some of these damages, say the master bathroom, were responsibilities of the owner, and some were the responsibilities of the tenant. You heard him make those statements?

A. [*Nancy Crowley*] I did, sir.

Q. [*Randall Gaither, Attorney for the Defendant*] Isn't it correct that prior to today, you were insisting on Mr. Black paying all the damages for the master bathroom and everything you paid Mr. Reynolds?

A. [*Nancy Crowley*] Yes, sir.

Q. And so you were actually asking Mr. Black before the testimony here today at trial, to pay excessive damages and demanding that he pay excessive damages for items which your own property manager has said that you have to pay?

A. Yes, sir. (Transcript of Trial, page 54, lines 1-15)

A review of the Affidavit of Chris Black, filed in opposition of the Motion for

Summary Judgment will indicate that Mr. Black had received a billing as early as February of 2003, over three years prior to trial, he insisted that the Plaintiff was asking for excessive damages. (See Affidavit of Chris Black in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. R. page 30, paragraph 10. R. page 36.) In that same Affidavit, Mr. Black indicated that he did not receive sufficient credit for his deposit which he was finally granted at trial. (See Affidavit of Chris Black in. R. page 30, paragraph 11. R. page 36). If the damages were subject to mathematical certainty and not excessive, the Court would have granted the summary judgement.

At the trial in this matter, the trial judge at the hearing heard and carefully balanced all claims and weighed all of the evidence at trial. (See Oral Findings from the bench set forth in *Statement of Facts* in this Brief at page 4-6.) The Plaintiff had been demanding excessive amounts of damages which was validated by the expert witness called by the Plaintiff at trial. In the expert testimony, he allocated many billed costs to the landlord. The unreasonable position of the Plaintiff as to excessive damages for matters not attributable to the tenant was one of the basis for the denial of attorney fees at trial. After trial, a Motion for New Trial was filed by the Appellant on this same issue and the trial Judge again ruled that the prior finding and judgement requiring each party to pay their own attorney's fees did not warrant a new trial.

Mr. Black testified that during the course of the lease the residence was damaged, but the damage was due to the failure of the owner to provide appropriate maintenance,

repair, and upkeep. When Mr. Black moved out of the residence he testified that the residence was professionally cleaned and after the cleaning the premises were inspected and any damage was minor and consistent with wear and tear of the residence.

The Court have held that the calculation of reasonable attorney's fees is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion. *Dixie State Bank*, 764 P.2d at 988 (Utah 1992) The standard of review on appeal of [the amount of] a trial court's award of attorney's fees is patent error or clear abuse of discretion." *Valcarce v. Fitzgerald*, 961 P.2d 305 at page 316 (Utah 1998)

The determination of which party is the prevailing party for purposes of an attorney fee award is an appropriate question for the trial court. This question depends, to a large measure, on the context of each case, and, therefore, it is appropriate to leave this determination to the sound discretion of the trial court. On appeal, this Court reviews the trial court's determination as to who was the prevailing party under an abuse of discretion standard. *Chang v. Soldier Summit Development*, 82 P.3d 203, 2003 UT App 415 (Utah App. 12/04/2003) Otherwise, this Appellate Court will have to reconsider all issues concerning leaking plumbing, damaged paint, and claims of damage or offsets and essentially retrying this case.

Which, if any, party is the prevailing party is an appropriate question for the trial court. *R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11 (Utah 01/25/2002) In this decision, the

Court set forth findings to be applied in the context of each case. The discretion of the trial court allows for the balancing as to who was the prevailing party. Appropriate considerations for the trial court here were the number of claims and the importance of the claims relative to each other in the context of the lawsuit considered as a whole. Here, Judge Iwasaki specifically questioned the dollar amounts if attorney's fees proffered attached to and awarded in connection with the various claims as well as the total award. Based on these and other relevant factors, the trial court ruled:

THE COURT: Yeah. They were repairing it. That's right. They were repairing it. They were unable to – but even in the normal – even in the normal wear and tear if you're going to be repairing, aren't you going to be downing some down time just in the normal wear and tear, Mr. Barnard?

MR. BARNARD: Yes, but hopefully not a month.

THE COURT: All right, I'm gonna give half month's rent on that.

Based upon this analysis, the Court finds that while you may have prevailed on certain aspects of it, you certainly did not prevail to the total amount that you're asking for. The Court finds under these particular circumstances, there is no prevailing party. As such, no attorney's fees will be granted. However, it will be granted as to damages that I have added up here.

(Emphasis added)

(Transcript of Trial, page 106, lines 1-25)

The Court should note that in the Appellant's Brief, the Appellant asserts that it prevailed on "the bulk" of damages which he had sought in his Complaint. (See Brief of the Appellant, page 24.) But in this matter, the Defendant prevailed on issues such as awarding him credit for deposits and avoiding unnecessary claims by the landlord which were made in pre-trial motions, including a Motion for Summary Judgment. A review of the Motion for Summary Judgment will show that the damages sought in the Complaint and Motion for Summary Judgment are substantially more than were actually awarded at

trial. Therefore, the ruling of the trial court as to attorney's fees should not be reversed.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF DID NOT CLAIM PRE-JUDGEMENT INTEREST AT TRIAL OR PRODUCE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO OBTAIN A JUDGMENT FOR PRE-JUDGMENT INTEREST.

A review of the record in this case will indicate that there is no complaint for pre-judgment interest set forth in the Complaint filed in May, 2002 by the Plaintiff. (See R. page 1, 2 & 3.) Later, the Plaintiff filed a Motion of Summary Judgement and there was no claim made at that time for any prejudgment interest. (See Motion for Summary Judgement.) The record will reflect that there was no opening or closing statements made at trial in which the Attorney's for the Plaintiff asked for or claimed pre-judgment interest. (See Transcript of Trial: R. page 154, page 1 & 98.) The Defendant submits that no factual foundation was made for any claim.

The trial Court, in the ruling made no mention of pre-judgment interest. (See Minutes of Bench Trial, page 80-81.) After the trial, Counsel for the Plaintiff prepared a proposed Judgment and included the "pre-judgment interest". This was the first time that the issue of pre-judgment interest appears in any manner in the record or transcript. Counsel for the Defendant filed an Objection to the proposed Judgment based upon the fact that there was no award of pre-judgment interest in the ruling of the trial court. (See Objection to Order and Judgment: R. page 110.) After the trial, the Plaintiff attended to

re-argue the specific ruling denying attorney's fees by filing a Motion for New Trial on the issue of attorney's fees. (See Motion for New Trial: R. pages 90-91.) The Motion for New Trial and the objections to the Judgment as to pre-judgment interest came before the Court on June 9, 2006 and the trial Judge denied the Motion for New Trial and denied the objections as to interest. (See Minutes of Law and Motion; page 116.)

Without any clear factual information, Plaintiffs' alleged damages could not be measured by "facts and figures" or "calculated with mathematical accuracy". *Canyon Country Store v. Bracey*, 781 P.2d 414 (Utah 1989) Under these circumstances, the trial court correctly denied plaintiffs prejudgment interest. *First Sec. Bank of Utah v. J.B.J. Feedyards, Inc.*, 653 P.2d 591, (Utah 1982); see also *Bellon v. Malnar*, 808 P.2d 1089, 1097 (Utah 1991).

A court can award pre-judgment interest only when the loss is fixed at a particular time and the amount can be fixed with accuracy." *Shoreline Dev., Inc. v. Utah County*, 835 P.2d 207 (Utah App. 1992). *Smith v. Linmar Energy Corp.*, 790 P.2d 1222 (Utah App. 1990). If the finder of fact must determine the loss by using its best judgment as to valuation rather than fixed standards of valuation, prejudgment interest is inappropriate. *Bjork v. April Indus., Inc.*, 560 P.2d 315, 317 (Utah) cert. denied, 431 U.S. 930, 97 S. Ct. 2634 (1977) (where the Court indicated damages cannot be calculated with mathematical accuracy, the amount of the damage must be ascertained and assessed by the trier of fact and prejudgment interest is not allowed).

As set forth, a review of the proceedings in this matter will indicate that the Defendant failed to request pre-judgment interest prior to trial or at trial. Only after the trial did the Plaintiff attempt to submit a Judgment seeking the pre-judgement interest.

There were never any specific dates and time introduced at trial or found by the court which would apply the mathematical formula for pre-judgment interest. This was a matter where a review of the Complaint will indicate that the Plaintiff was asking for costs, damages, expenses, lost rent and other matters totaling an amount which was substantially more than the Plaintiff was awarded at trial when the Court sorted the case out issue by issue. This is not a pre-judgment case and the Plaintiff failed to request pre-judgment interest in any manner and only belatedly attempted to tack pre-judgment interest on after the ruling of the trial Judge.

CONCLUSION AND REQUEST FOR RELIEF


This matter was submitted on all issues to a bench trial to the Third District Court. The Court in ruling from the bench considered all issues and took into account all of the evidence at trial and reached a verdict as to attorney's fees appropriate in light of the Court's findings at trial.

The issue of attorney's fees and pre-judgment interest were the province of the trial court to make a ruling based upon the findings of fact made by the trial court. At the trial, Counsel for the Defendant argued that no attorney's fees should be awarded because

of the excessive claims made by the Plaintiff and in fact called a witness, the wife of the Plaintiff, who on the stand at trial insisted that the Plaintiff owed damages which the Plaintiff's own expert witness said should be costs of the Plaintiff. This clearly demonstrated to the trial court an attitude of the Plaintiff which caused unnecessary and unreasonable attorney's fees based upon unreasonable pretrial demands.

The trial judge after hearing all the witnesses in person and reviewing all pictures and documents entered into a total evaluation of the entire case in which in his sound discretion ruled that there should not be attorney's fees awarded. This sound discretion was re-affirmed when the Plaintiff made a Motion for New Trial which the trial Court denied and should be reaffirmed on appeal.